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INTRODUCTION 

The lower Court’s refusal to grant DNA testing is abuse of 
discretion. Our justice system cannot afford to ignore untested 
evidence—especially when it could prove innocence. The duty of the 

courts is clear: convict the guilty and exonerate the innocent. Yet, 
wrongful convictions persist, eroding public confidence in our legal 
system. 

For 34 years, Petitioner has sat on death row for allegedly killing 
his parents—yet he has never wavered in asserting his innocence. 
Despite groundbreaking advances in DNA technology, critical evidence 
from the crime scene remains untested. This Court must correct this 
injustice. DNA testing is not an inconvenience; it is a necessity. The 

stakes could not be higher—a human life hangs in the balance. 

Petitioner has twice sought DNA testing of inconclusive and 
unexamined evidence, yet the Superior Court has refused to act. After 
the Superior Court’s initial denial, Petitioner retained a forensic expert 

to assess the untested evidence under the standards of Penal Code 
§1405. Petitioner narrowed the motion to only include the specific items 
that were never tested in the original investigation: two bullets, 
one set of fingerprints and two blood samples that could point to 
another perpetrator. Nevertheless, the Court denied this motion 

wrongly concluding that DNA testing would not support Petitioner’s 
claims. The Court stated, “No amount of DNA evidence would refute 
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defendant’s own words in tape conversations where he explicitly states 
that he would ‘blame [the crimes] on the Dukes.’” But such a statement 
is not a confession. It simply reflected his uncertainty about the true 

perpetrator, not an admission of his own guilt. To assume otherwise is 
to distort the meaning of his words and ignore the fundamental purpose 
of DNA testing- to uncover the truth. In its second motion, the trial 
court erred by relying on an outdated version of Penal Code 1405, 
failing to acknowledge the critical language added in 2014: 

“The convicted person is only required to demonstrate that 
the DNA testing he or she seeks would be relevant to, 
rather than dispositive of, the issue of identity. The 
convicted person is not required to show that a favorable 

result would conclusively establish his or her innocence.” 
(1405(g)(4).) 

This updated provision makes it clear: DNA testing does not need 
to provide absolute proof of innocence—only that it is relevant to the 

question of identity. Ignoring this crucial distinction was an abuse of 
discretion. Moreover, the People admit “DNA testing “may potentially 
result in a more favorable verdict or sentence in this case.” Ken Moses, 
Petitioner’s forensic expert, confirms that modern DNA testing could 
fundamentally change the outcome of this case. He states: “Biometric 

testing today, using new technologies unavailable in 1990, presents a 

compelling case for re-testing the serologic and fingerprint evidence in 

the Staten case to obtain more definitive and potentially exculpatory 
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answers, as it has in many other cases.” Untested evidence cannot be 
ignored. If DNA from a third party is discovered at the crime scene, it 
would create a reasonable probability that Petitioner would have 

received a more favorable verdict. Such a revelation would not only cast 
substantial doubt on his guilt but also reinforce the reasonable doubt 
that is essential to a fair and just trial. By testing the DNA, the legal 
system upholds its responsibility to pursue truth and fairness, ensuring 
that no individual is unjustly punished for a crime they did not commit. 

EMERGENCY PETITION FOR A WRIT OF MANDATE 
 

A. Interests Of Petitioners and Capacities Of Respondents 
and Real Parties In Interest. 

 
1. The Petitioner is Deondre Arthur Staten. 

2. Petitioner is currently incarcerated by the California Department 
of Corrections and Rehabilitation (CDCR) at the Richard J. 
Donovan Correctional Facility, located at 480 Alta Road, San 
Diego, CA 92179. 

3. The Respondent Superior Court Judge is the Hon. William C. 

Ryan, who sits in Department 100 of the Clara Shortridge Foltz 
Criminal Justice Center, located at 210 W. Temple St., Los 
Angeles, CA 90012. The telephone number for Department 100 is 
(213) 628-7400.  

4. The People of the State of California are the real parties in 

interest and are represented in this matter by the Office of the 
District Attorney of Los Angeles County (District Attorney). 
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B. The Basis For The Relief Sought. 

 
1. Petitioner was charged with the murder of Arthur Staten, 

Petitioner’s father, in violation of California Penal Code, section 
187(a). Count one additionally charged that Petitioner personally 
used a firearm during the commission of the murder, in violation 
of California Penal Code, Sections 1203.06(a)(1) and 12022.5. 
Count two charged Petitioner with the murder of Faye Staten, 

Petitioner’s mother, in violation of California Penal Code, Section 
187(a). Count two additionally charged that Petitioner personally 
used a deadly and dangerous weapon, to wit, a knife, during the 
commission of the murder, in violation of California Penal Code, 
Section 12022(b). Both counts charged the murders were carried 
out for financial gain and that the offense involved multiple 

murder victims, both special circumstances pursuant to California 
Penal Code, Sections 190.2(a)(1) and 190.2(a)(3).  

2. Petitioner was tried by jury and found guilty on all counts. The 
jury found Petitioner committed both murders in the first degree, 
personally used a firearm as alleged in count one, personally used 

a knife as alleged in count two, and committed multiple murders 
for financial gain as to both special circumstances charged. On 
December 6, 1991, the same jury determined the punishment for 
both counts as death.  

3. Petitioner testified during the guilt phase of the trial and denied 

guilt of all charges. Petitioner did not testify during the penalty 
phase of the trial.  
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4. Petitioner appealed his convictions and death sentence.  
5. The California Supreme Court unanimously affirmed Petitioner’s 

convictions and sentence on November 9, 2000, in People v. Staten 

(2000) 24 Cal.4th 434. On January 24, 2001, Petitioner’s petition 
for rehearing was denied and the remittitur was issued to the Los 
Angeles Superior Court.  

6. On May 24, 2001, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of certiorari in 
the Supreme Court of the United States. On October 1, 2001, the 

Supreme Court of the United States issued an order denying the 
petition.  

7. On October 24, 2001, an order was entered by the United States 
District Court for the Central District of California staying 
execution of the sentence of death until final disposition of a 
federal habeas corpus petition to be filed on behalf of Petitioner.  

8. On May 20, 2002, Petitioner filed with this Court his first petition 
for writ of habeas corpus, In re Deondre Arthur State, Case No. 
S107302. The petition was denied on September 10, 2003. 

9. On December 19, 2003, Petitioner filed a petition for writ of 
habeas corpus in the United States District Court in Deondre 

Arthur Staten v. Jeanne Woodford, Warden of the California State 

Prison At San Quentin, Case No. CV 01-9178-GHK. 
10. On January 8, 2004, a second habeas petition, S121789, was 

filed in the Court due to the failure of the direct appeal and first 
habeas petition to present federal constitutional claims. The 

federal proceeding was stayed pending this Court’s disposition of 
the second petition, which was denied on July 13, 2005.  

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/Icc553b84fab611d9b386b232635db992/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv1%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0a89dc0f00000195156ae6a24c075994%3Fppcid%3Db40282715515411782a733c6e37af99c%26Nav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIcc553b84fab611d9b386b232635db992%26parentRank%3D0%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=720e8c051b4e910be61cb185bd87fe2b&list=CASE&sessionScopeId=830c90e40bf3e8cc55daf9348ea4205eaf43fe21020d78df366d573fe4af55bb&ppcid=b40282715515411782a733c6e37af99c&originationContext=Smart%20Answer&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/Icc553b84fab611d9b386b232635db992/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv1%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0a89dc0f00000195156ae6a24c075994%3Fppcid%3Db40282715515411782a733c6e37af99c%26Nav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIcc553b84fab611d9b386b232635db992%26parentRank%3D0%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=720e8c051b4e910be61cb185bd87fe2b&list=CASE&sessionScopeId=830c90e40bf3e8cc55daf9348ea4205eaf43fe21020d78df366d573fe4af55bb&ppcid=b40282715515411782a733c6e37af99c&originationContext=Smart%20Answer&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
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11. On July 25, 2005, Petitioner filed in the federal proceeding 
an amended petition containing claims newly exhausted as a 
result of this Court’s denial of his second state habeas petition.  

12. In 2023, InnocenceOC, a non-profit innocence project 
associated with UCI Law School, agreed to represent Petitioner on 
the grounds of actual innocence. 

13. On July 5, 2023, Petitioner filed a Motion for DNA testing 
pursuant to California Penal Code section 1405. A copy of the 

Petition and Opposition is attached as Exhibit 1 and incorporated 
by reference. The motion was denied on January 26, 2024. A copy 
of the order is attached as Exhibit 2 and incorporated by 
reference. 

14. In light of the Court’s denial, Petitioner hired Ken Moses, a 
forensic scientist and on September 5, 2024, Petitioner filed a 

second Motion for DNA testing addressing the elements of 
California Penal Code section 1405 and limiting the motion to 
only testing of inconclusive blood samples and a fingerprint. A 
copy of the Motion and Opposition is attached as Exhibit 3 and 
incorporated by reference. The motion was denied on January 16, 

2025. A copy of the order is attached as Exhibit 4 and incorporated 
by reference. 

C. Supreme Court Has Proper Jurisdiction When DNA 
Motions Are Denied.  

1. California Code Of Civil Procedure section 1085(a) A writ of 

mandate may be issued by any court to any inferior tribunal, 
corporation, board, or person, to compel the performance of an act 
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which the law specially enjoins, as a duty resulting from an office, 
trust, or station, or to compel the admission of a party to the use 
and enjoyment of a right or office to which the party is entitled, 

and from which the party is unlawfully precluded by that inferior 
tribunal, corporation, board, or person. 

(b) The appellate division of the superior court may grant a writ of 
mandate directed to the superior court in a limited civil case or in 

a misdemeanor or infraction case. Where the appellate division 
grants a writ of mandate directed to the superior court, the 
superior court is an inferior tribunal for purposes of this chapter. 

2. Article 5, section 10 of the California Constitution vests the 
Supreme Court with original jurisdiction in proceedings for 
extraordinary relief in the nature of mandamus, certiorari, and 
prohibition. Cal. Const. art. VI, section 10; see also Cal. Civ. Proc. 
Code section 1085; Cal. R. Ct. 8.486. This Court has recognized 
that it is appropriate to exercise original jurisdiction “where the 

matters to be decided are of sufficiently great importance and 
require immediate attention.” California Redevelopment Ass’n v. 

Matosantos, 53 Cal. 4th 231, 253 (2011).  
3. Cal. Penal Code section 1405 also recognizes the Supreme Court’s 

authority to grant relief in matters of great importance. Pursuant 

to section (k), “[a]n order granting or denying a motion for DNA 
testing under this section . . . shall be subject to review only 
through petition for writ of mandate or prohibition filed by the 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/If259907431f511e1a84ff3e97352c397/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv1%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0a89dc0f00000195156c56654c075fab%3Fppcid%3D7ee2ff3c89074da4bdd77e5b2c4b6b5c%26Nav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIf259907431f511e1a84ff3e97352c397%26parentRank%3D0%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=e0acf2eaabf6d64d3e61f3045378117e&list=CASE&rank=1&sessionScopeId=830c90e40bf3e8cc55daf9348ea4205eaf43fe21020d78df366d573fe4af55bb&ppcid=7ee2ff3c89074da4bdd77e5b2c4b6b5c&originationContext=Smart%20Answer&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/If259907431f511e1a84ff3e97352c397/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv1%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0a89dc0f00000195156c56654c075fab%3Fppcid%3D7ee2ff3c89074da4bdd77e5b2c4b6b5c%26Nav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIf259907431f511e1a84ff3e97352c397%26parentRank%3D0%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=e0acf2eaabf6d64d3e61f3045378117e&list=CASE&rank=1&sessionScopeId=830c90e40bf3e8cc55daf9348ea4205eaf43fe21020d78df366d573fe4af55bb&ppcid=7ee2ff3c89074da4bdd77e5b2c4b6b5c&originationContext=Smart%20Answer&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
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person seeking DNA testing, the district attorney, or the Attorney 
General.” Cal. Penal Code section 1405(k). In capital cases, section 
(k) further states that the California Supreme Court shall be the 

proper jurisdiction of the matter. Id.  

D. Absence Of Other Remedies. 
 

1. The Superior Court denied the second DNA motion, holding, 

“Defendant has not demonstrated that, had the DNA testing been 
available, there is a “reasonable chance” he would have received a 
more favorable result at trial.” 

2. Cal. Penal Code section 1405(k) makes clear that there exists no 
other remedy for relief in matters of DNA testing: “[a]n order 
granting or denying a motion for DNA testing under this section 

shall not be appealable.”  

E. Prayer For Relief 
 
1. Petitioner Deondre Arthur Staten prays for the following relief:  

(1) That the Court order grant Petitioner’s Motion for DNA 
testing pursuant to California Penal Code section 1405, and 
order DNA testing for the three .38 caliber bullets, one .25 
caliber casing, and blood samples that were recovered at the 
scene of the crime.  

(2) That the Court grant such other and further relief that, in 
the Court’s determination, is equitable and appropriate.  
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Dated: February 18, 2025    INNOCENCEOC 
 
 
 
      _______/S/ Annee Della Donna__ 
       Annee Della Donna, Esq.  
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VERIFICATION  
I, Annee Della Donna, state: 

I am co-counsel for petitioner Deondre Staten in this matter. I 

have read the foregoing petition and know of its contents. The facts 
stated in the petition and in the supporting memorandum of points and 
authorities are within my personal knowledge and I know them to be 
true. Each of the exhibits attached to the petition are authentic copies 
of the matters that are in the court’s files in this matter or were 

provided to me. 
Because of my familiarity with the relevant facts concerning the 

proceedings in the trial court, and the emergency nature of this petition, 
I have verified this petition instead of Petitioner. However, Petitioner 
did file a declaration in support of the motion for DNA testing. 

I declare under penalty of perjury, under the laws of the State of 

California, that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed this 18th day 
of February in 2025. 

 
____/S/ Annee Della Donna______________________ 
Annee Della Donna, Esq.  
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

1. The Murders 

Petitioner and his parents, Faye and Arthur ("Ray") Staten, the 
victims in the murder by which Petitioner is convicted, were an African 
American family. At the time of the crime, Petitioner was 24 years old 
and lived with his parents in a territory claimed by the East Side 
Dukes, (10 RT 1734) a violent street gang comprised exclusively of 

Hispanic individuals. (10 RT 1722). During trial, testimony 
acknowledged the East Side Dukes were known to commit homicide (10 
RT 1734), and had painted graffiti reading “East Side Dukes Kills 
N*****s” (10 RT 1758).  

 The Staten family owned and operated a beauty salon and beauty 
supply store near their home. Multiple witnesses testified at trial that 
Petitioner and his father, Ray Staten sold illicit drugs in the East Side 
Dukes territory. Multiple witnesses testified these drug sales in the 
East Side Dukes’ “turf” resulted in the East Side Dukes animosity 

toward Petitioner and Ray Staten.  

Not long after midnight on October 13, 1990, Ray and Faye Staten 
were murdered in their home. Faye was stabbed 18 times and Ray was 
found dead from a single gunshot wound to the back of the head. On the 

mirrored wall of a hallway, the phrase "E.S.D. Kills" was sprayed in 
white paint.  
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There was no forced entry in the house, because the backdoor was 
left unlocked, offering easy access. If Petitioner had committed these 
killings, he would have been covered in gunshot residue and drenched 

in blood. He was not. The lack of GSR and blood on the Petitioner 
shortly after the killings, proves he could not have committed the crime.  

Despite presenting evidence at trial showing the East Side Dukes 
were responsible for the murders, Petitioner was convicted. In denying 

Petitioner’s motion for DNA testing, the Los Angeles County Superior 
Court Judge reasoned that “[t]here is no showing or support, either at 
the time of the convictions and subsequent appeals or in the current 
motions, for gang-related shootings.” (Minute Order, Page 6). Yet, the 
underlying record contains substantial evidence the East Side Dukes 

threatened the Staten family prior to, during, and after the commission 
of the murders on October 13, 1990. 

2. East Side Dukes Involvement Prior to the Murders. 

At trial, several witnesses corroborated the Petitioner’s expert Dr. 
Morales’s testimony, stating the East Side Dukes were violently active 
within the neighborhood, hated Black people and routinely painted 
graffiti reading “ESD Kills N*****s” around the neighborhood (Habeas 

p.19-20). Witnesses additionally testified Petitioner had personally been 
targeted by the gang prior to the murders on October 13, 1990, stating 
that Petitioner had been chased, shot at, and harassed by the East Side 
Dukes.  
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John Nicols, one of Petitioner’s friends, told the police the day before 
Faye and Ray Staten left for vacation, Petitioner received a phone call 
where the caller told Petitioner “ESD kills N*****s”. Nicols, who lived 

approximately one block away from the Staten residence, testified he 
had personally witnessed the East Side Dukes’ antagonism for 
Petitioner when the East Side Dukes came to Nicols’s residence and 
“pulled guns” on him and Petitioner. (7 RT 1140-41.) A few months 
later, in early 1990, Nicols observed a car full of East Side Dukes 

members pull up to Petitioner and threaten him. (7 RT 1138-39.) Nicols, 
who is also Black, testified he was also subject to the East Side Dukes’ 
racial antagonism, and would receive “hard stares” whenever he would 
encounter East Side Dukes gang members. (7 RT 1233) 

A few days before Faye and Ray Staten’s return from vacation, 
Petitioner’s friend Vernon Burden came to the Staten residence, where 
he and Nichols heard Petitioner say, “I wish they [the East Side Dukes] 
would leave my family alone and stop calling here and harassing me.” 
(8 RT 1271)  

The next day, Petitioner went into the back yard and discovered 
“ESD Kills” spray painted in white on the patio, next to the same 
sliding door that was open the night of the murders. Nichols and 
Petitioner’s friend Brandon Booker stated they also observed the 

graffiti, and heard Petitioner say “ESD going to get theirs” (7 RT 1159).  
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3. East Side Dukes involvement on the Day of the Murders. 

Late on October 13, 1900, Petitioner returned to the Staten residence 
and discovered his father shot to death in the bedroom and his mother 
stabbed to death in a hallway. The responding police officers and 
subsequent forensic analysis were not able to conclusively prove 
Petitioner was in any way involved in the murders.  

The weapons used to kill Ray and Faye were never recovered. Two 
bullets, which were recovered from the scene, were never tested for 
DNA evidence and the State’s expert testified at trial it was possible 
that the different bullets could have been fired from two different guns. 

Moreover, in 2000, The Los Angeles Sheriff's Department found 
Investigator Dwight Van Horn (who was the chief investigator in this 
case) had failed a proficiency test in 1998 and 2 out of 51 of his 
investigations had ballistic errors and posed potential credibility 
concerns. (DNA Motion, Ex 3) 

Responding police officers were likewise unable to detect any forensic 
evidence on Petitioner’s person when Petitioner was transported to the 
Los Angeles Sheriff’s Department for questioning immediately after the 
murders.  

Petitioner did not have an opportunity to wash his hands prior to 
being transported, which was corroborated by the police who testified 
that Petitioner’s hands were “dirty.” Yet, the police were unable to 

detect any gunshot residue on his hands. Gunshot residue, which can 
remain on a person up to six hours after they came into contact with a 
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gun, would have likely appeared on Petitioner’s hands if he were the 
person who had fired the gun that killed his father. (16 RT 2663) Phil 
Teramoto, who worked in the Scientific Services Bureau of the Los 

Angeles Sheriff’s Department, also acknowledged Petitioner did not 
have gunshot residue on his hands, and testified during trial that “no 
statement can be made as to whether [Petitioner] had handled or 
discharged a firearm.” (16 RT 2668) 

Similarly, Faye Staten’s blood was not detected on Petitioner hands, 
body, or clothing yet Ms. Staten was stabbed 18 times. Medical 
examiner, Susan Selsa, testified Faye Stated died as a result of multiple 
stab wounds. (Habeas p.40) If Petitioner did in fact stab his mother 18 
times, a gory and violent act requiring close proximity and immediate 

contact, he would likely have significant blood spatter on his hands, 
person, and clothing. 

 Finally, there was no forensic evidence linking Petitioner to the 
spray painted “ESD Kills” detected on the hallway mirror at the scene. 

Police did not find any spray paint on Petitioner’s hands or clothing. 
Although several latent fingerprints were collected from the three cans 
of spray paint found at the scene, suggesting the spray paint canisters 
had not been wiped clean, none of the Petitioner’s fingerprints were 
found on the canisters. (11 RT 1889-90)  

David Watkins, a Los Angeles Sheriff’s Department gang expert, 
testified at trial “in his opinion” the graffiti found at the scene was not 
authentic. (10 RT 1747-48, 1786) However, Gomelia Baker, the 

Assistant principal at Nogales High School, the local high school where 
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most of the East Side Dukes members attended, disagreed. Mr. Baker 
testified he had taught at Nogales High School for 14 years and saw 
every piece of graffiti on school property. Mr. Baker was of the opinion 

the graffiti on the patio and on the mirror was authentic East Side 
Dukes graffiti. Similarly, Dr. Morales, submitted a declaration in 
support of Petitioner’s state habeas petition, stating the murders of Ray 
and Faye Staten were typical of gang-related murders, including those 
committed by the East Side Dukes. Finally, even the defense 

handwriting expert testified the graffiti on the patio and the mirror was 
likely written by the same person, and that it was not Petitioner’s 
handwriting. (12 RT 2032) 

 Thus, there is no forensic evidence from the crime scene to prove 

Petitioner committed the murders. On the contrary, the lack of forensic 
evidence suggests Petitioner was not involved in the murders. 
Petitioner did not have gunshot residue on his hands, which would be 
necessary to suggest that he shot Ray Staten. Petitioner did not have 
blood on his hands, person, or clothing, which would be necessary to 

suggest that he stabbed Faye Staten. Petitioner’s fingerprints were not 
lifted from the spray paint canisters nor was spray paint found on 
Petitioner’s hands, person, or clothing, which would be necessary to 
suggest that he spraypainted “ESD Kills” on the hallway mirror. Yet, 
Petitioner was still convicted, despite evidence uncovered at the scene 
directly linking the East Side Dukes to the murders. 
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4. East Side Dukes Involvement after the Murders. 

On October 14, 1990, the day following the Staten murders, five 
independent witnesses observed the East Side Dukes drive by the 
Staten Residence yelling, “Yeah, we got them!” In 2020, the Ninth 
Circuit determined the trial court’s decision to exclude this evidence 
was objectively unreasonable, and this evidence would have been 

helpful for the jury to further evaluate the defense’s theory that the 
East Side Dukes were responsible for the murders of Faye and Ray 
Staten.  

5. Critical Evidence Never Tested. 

After reviewing Defendant’s case file, Forensic Expert Moses 
identified several pieces of evidence that were never tested:  

(1) Two .38 caliber bullets recovered from the Staten home, one .38 
caliber bullet removed from Arthur Staten’s body. (See Exh. 3, 
Declaration of Kenneth R. Moses at ¶ 6.)  

(2) Several latent unidentified fingerprints lifted from inside the 
residence, including those found on the mirror-tiled wall with 

the EDS graffiti and on a can of spray paint in the closet. (See 

Exh. 3, Declaration of Kenneth R. Moses at ¶ 8.) 
(3) Numerous blood samples collected from the scene, both inside 

and outside the front door on the suspect’s path of exit, that 
were previously tested but found to be inconclusive. (See Ex. 3, 

Declaration of Kenneth R. Moses at ¶ 9.) 
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Additionally, a spent .25 caliber casing was also discovered 
outside the Staten residence, yet the family did not own a .25 caliber 
weapon.  

Therefore, the Defendant has met the statutory requirement 
pursuant to Section 1405(d)(1)(C) by clearly identifying the evidence to 
be DNA tested under this motion: three .38 bullets, one .25 bullet 
casing, and the 11 unconclusive blood samples found at the scene.   

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Petitioner’s Murder Convictions Rely Solely on 
Circumstantial Evidence Thus, Enhanced DNA Testing 
is Critical to Proving His Innocence and Revealing That 
Gang Members—Who Repeatedly Threatened Him—
Were the True Perpetrators. 

A trial court's determination on a defendant's motion for 
postconviction DNA testing is reviewed for abuse of discretion.   

Further, “trial courts should liberally apply the ‘reasonable 
probability’ standard to permit testing in questionable cases.” 

(Jointer v. Superior Court (2013) 217 Cal.App.4th 759, 769.) Petitioner 
was ultimately convicted in a case built entirely out of circumstantial 
evidence. Petitioner never confessed to the crime, and no scientific 
evidence pointed to his culpability. Moreover, evidence shows the East 
Side Dukes were heavily involved in threatening the Staten family 
before the crime, actually committing the crime, and taunting the 

Staten family following the crime. Thus, conducting a DNA analysis on 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I6c02893ddf4111e28503bda794601919/View/FullText.html?originationContext=typeAhead&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)
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the bullets, casing, blood spatter recovered at the scene of the crime 
may provide the scientific evidence necessary to identify the responsible 
parties for Ray and Faye Staten’s murder. This DNA evidence may also 

exonerate Petitioner, providing him with a more favorable verdict or 
sentence if the results of the DNA testing had been available at the 
time of his conviction pursuant to California Penal Code section 1405.  

Pursuant to Section 1405(d)(1)(D), the Defendant need not prove 

that he absolutely would have received a different verdict, but need only 
“explain in light of all the evidence, how the requested DNA testing 
would raise a reasonable probability that the convicted person’s verdict 
or sentence would be more favorable if the results of DNA testing had 
been available at the time of the conviction.” (Richardson v. Superior 

Court (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1040, 1051.) This does not mean the Court must 
find the Defendant has a reasonable chance of obtaining ultimate relief, 
but only “whether the defendant is entitled to develop potentially 
exculpatory evidence.” (Id.)  

Penal Code 1405(g) which was revised in 2014 was not addressed 
in the trial court’s Minute Order dated January 16, 2025. Instead, 
Judge Ryan used the outdated version which did not include these 
important changes:  

“The convicted person is only required to demonstrate that 
the DNA testing he or she seeks would be relevant to, 
rather than dispositive of, the issue of identity. The 
convicted person is not required to show a favorable result 

would conclusively establish his or her innocence…. In 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I7b9245c6281911ddb6a3a099756c05b7/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&userEnteredCitation=43+Cal.4th+1040
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I7b9245c6281911ddb6a3a099756c05b7/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Default)&userEnteredCitation=43+Cal.4th+1040
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determining whether the convicted person is entitled to 
develop potentially exculpatory evidence, the court shall 
not decide whether, assuming a DNA test result favorable 

to the convicted person, he or she is entitled to some form 
of ultimate relief.” 1405(g) 4, 5.)  

The Trial Court further failed to apply new law in section 6(B): 
“The evidence was tested previously, but the requested DNA test would 

provide results that are reasonably more discriminating and probative 
of the identity of the perpetrator or accomplice or have a reasonable 
probability of contradicting prior test results.” Petitioner was unable to 
find this version used by the trial Court, even going back as far as 2004) 

Here, multiple bullets and casings were recovered by police at the 
Staten home following the murder. Blood samples were taken from 
blood found inside and outside the front door. Fingerprints were lifted 
from the residence, including on the mirror-tiled wall of graffiti and the 
spray can of paint. At the time of the investigation, the bullets and 

bullet casing were not examined for DNA evidence, multiple 
blood samples were tested but the DNA was found to be 
inconclusive, and several latent fingerprints were never 
identified. Should the Court order DNA testing of the above limited 
pieces of evidence, the requested DNA test would provide results that 

are reasonably more discriminating and probative of the identity of the 
perpetrator or have a reasonable probability of contradicting prior test 
results, where here the identity of the perpetrators was a major issue at 
trial.  
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According to Ken Moses, DNA analysis was still in its infancy in 
1990. Today, “modern technological advancements in DNA analysis 
enable forensic scientists to identify an individual to an extraordinarily 

high degree of statistical significance.” (Ex. 3, Declaration of Kenneth R. 
Moses at ¶ 10.) Further, historical serological analyses required large 
samples, whereas today, “modern DNA forensics often utilizes sample 
sizes so minute as to be invisible to the naked eye, such as ‘touch DNA’ 
samples consisting of only a few skin cells on a cartridge casing.” (Id.) 

Finally, Moses noted at the time of Defendant’s trial, AFIS and CODIS 
databases were thinly populated, but today contain many 
millions of subjects, increasing the chances of making a positive 
identification from a DNA sample. (Id.)  

Analysis of the bullets, bullet casing, and previously inconclusive 
blood samples could develop potentially exculpatory evidence in this 
matter. Although DNA testing in 1990 did not have the capability to 
analyze small samples, modern DNA forensics would be able to 
test for skin cells on the bullets and bullet casing. Further, while 

the blood testing in 1990 was inconclusive, today’s analysis can better 
test the small samples of blood found at the Staten residence. Finally, 
due to the much more populated AFIS and CODIS databases, 
there is a greater chance of identifying a positive match after 
testing the DNA found at the scene.  

As such, by developing this potentially exculpatory evidence, there 
is a reasonable probability, in light of all the evidence, the DNA testing 
would be relevant to the issue of identity. If any third-party DNA were 
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found at the scene of the murders, specifically on the bullet casings or in 
blood splatter at the door, it would support the Defense’s claim that the 
Petitioner did not commit the murders. The jury found Petitioner 

personally used a firearm in the murder of his father and stabbed his 
mother. However, had DNA evidence pointed to a third party having 
fired the gun or left blood at the scene, there is a reasonable probability 
that the jury would have determined a different person committed the 
crimes. Furthermore, had DNA evidence or latent fingerprints been 

matched to East Side Dukes gang members, it would have supported 
the Defense’s case theory that members of the East Side Dukes gang 
committed the murders.  

B. In Light of The Evidence, DNA Testing Will Raise A 

Reasonable Probability the Petitioner's Verdict Would 
Be More Favorable if The Results Of The DNA Testing 
Had Been Available At The Time Of The Conviction.  

As discussed above, the perpetrator of these crimes was a 
significant issue in this matter, where there were no eyewitnesses and 

no circumstantial evidence directly identifying Petitioner as the 
perpetrator. 

The requested testing meets the requirements of Penal Code 
1405(6): 

(A) The evidence was not tested previously. 
(B) The evidence was tested previously, but the requested DNA 
test would provide results that are reasonably more 
discriminating and probative of the identity of the perpetrator or 
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accomplice or have a reasonable probability of contradicting prior 
test results.” 

In Jointer, supra, the trial court abused its discretion in denying 
defendant's motion for postconviction DNA testing of water bottle that 
the robbery perpetrator drank from and left at crime scene, since 
favorable DNA evidence would be sufficiently exculpatory to create a 
reasonable probability of a more favorable verdict for the defendant, 

where the only disputed issue as to the robbery was identity, the sole 
physical evidence linking defendant to the crime was fingerprint 
evidence from the water bottle, and two of the three eyewitnesses were 
uncertain about their identification of defendant as the perpetrator.  
Jointer v. Superior Court (App. 4 Dist. 2013) 158 Cal.Rptr.3d 778, 217 

Cal.App.4th 759.  

 Petitioner has found potentially exculpatory evidence that does 
exist—i.e., the bullets, bullet casings, and inconclusive blood samples—
and InnocenceOC will pay for the testing. Had the DNA testing been 

available at the time of the Defendant’s trial, there is a reasonable 
probability that Petitioner would have obtained a more favorable 
verdict at trial where the results could reasonably indicate the existence 
of an alternate perpetrator.  

It is important to recall that trial courts have been instructed to 
“liberally apply the ‘reasonable probability’ standard to permit testing 
in questionable cases” to avoid the unnecessary expenditure of judicial 
resources. (Jointer, supra, 217 Cal.App.4th at 769 (emphasis added).) 

While Petitioner’s trial lawyer failed to present evidence of the crimes 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I6c02893ddf4111e28503bda794601919/View/FullText.html?originationContext=typeAhead&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2030902135&pubNum=0007047&originatingDoc=N7406B5E06A6611EF971CF0D29C6EF729&refType=RP&originationContext=notesOfDecisions&contextData=%28sc.UserEnteredCitation%29&transitionType=NotesOfDecisionItem&ppcid=2dc31e6b8fcf403aad0da8088e34d5c9
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2030902135&pubNum=0007047&originatingDoc=N7406B5E06A6611EF971CF0D29C6EF729&refType=RP&originationContext=notesOfDecisions&contextData=%28sc.UserEnteredCitation%29&transitionType=NotesOfDecisionItem&ppcid=2dc31e6b8fcf403aad0da8088e34d5c9
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I6c02893ddf4111e28503bda794601919/View/FullText.html?originationContext=typeAhead&transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)
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being gang related, there did exist evidence to support this theory. For 
example, Defendant testified he was being threatened by the East Side 
Dukes. The day after the murders, five witnesses saw a car containing 

ESD members drive by the Staten home and glare at them. Three of 
those witnesses heard them say, “Yeah we got them!” and two of those 
three disclosed the event to Defendant’s trial attorney. East Side Dukes 
graffiti was left at the scene of the crime. Had the DNA evidence of the 
bullets, bullet casing, and blood samples, there is a reasonable 

probability that Defendant would have received a more favorable 
verdict.  

Petitioner is not required to prove he would have been found not 
guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. He must only demonstrate that, in 

light of all of the circumstantial evidence, he is entitled to develop this 
potentially exculpatory DNA evidence as it would have had a 
reasonable probability of leading to a more favorable verdict if it had 
been available at the time of his trial. As such, the Petitioner has met 
this statutory requirement under Section 1405(d)(1)(D) by 

demonstrating the requested DNA testing will raise a reasonable 
probability that the Petitioner’s verdict would be more favorable if the 
results of the testing had been available at the time of the conviction. 

C. Collateral Estoppel Does Not Apply Where The Issues 

Are  Not Identical.  

At the first DNA motion in 2024, the Superior Court Judge ruled 
Petitioner did not meet the “reasonable probability of a more favorable 

result.” In order to satisfy the Trial Court’s concerns in his first Minute 
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Order that there is a reasonable probability of Petitioner receiving a 
more favorable result at trial, Petitioner hired a forensic expert, Ken 
Moses. According to Ken Moses, in 1990 there was no method of DNA 

testing for bullets and bullet casings. As such, prior DNA testing of the 
evidence found at the scene does not compare to the available testing 
procedures in the modern day. DNA testing of the bullet, bullet casings, 
and blood samples conducted today would yield far more information 
than the limited testing conducted in 1990. Today, “modern 

technological advancements in DNA analysis enable forensic 
scientists to identify an individual to an extraordinarily high 
degree of statistical significance.” (Ex. 3, Declaration of Kenneth R. 
Moses at ¶ 10.) Further, historical serological analyses required large 
samples, whereas today, “modern DNA forensics often utilizes sample 
sizes so minute as to be invisible to the naked eye, such as ‘touch DNA’ 

samples consisting of only a few skin cells on a cartridge casing.” (Id.) 
Finally, Moses noted that at the time of Defendant’s trial, AFIS and 
CODIS databases were thinly populated, but today contain 
many millions of subjects, increasing the chances of making a 
positive identification from a DNA sample. (Id.) Analysis of the 

bullets, bullet casing, and previously inconclusive blood samples could 
develop potentially exculpatory evidence in this matter. 

Astonishingly, the Trial Court completely ignored the new 
declaration from expert Ken Moses and instead relied on an outdated 

version of the statute, disregarding crucial legal updates and expert 
analysis. Even more troubling, despite distinct differences between the 
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motions, the Trial Court’s Minute Orders are virtually identical-raising 
serious concerns the Court never read the second motion.  

According to Lucido v. Superior Court (1990) 51 Cal.3d 335, 
collateral estoppel is not applied where the issues sought to be 
precluded are not identical. The different issue raised in the second 
motion backed up by a sworn declaration from a qualified expert, is 
whether Petitioner would receive a more favorable result in light of the 

new DNA testing available in the scientific community. As the United 
States Supreme Court has stated, “the rule of collateral estoppel in 
criminal cases is not to be applied with the hypertechnical and archaic 
approach of a nineteenth century pleading book, but with realism and 
rationality.” (Ashe v. Swenson (1970) 397 U.S. 436, 444, 90 S.Ct. 1189, 

1194, 25 L.Ed.2d 469; see also Jackson v. City of Sacramento (1981) 117 
Cal.App.3d 596, 603, 172 Cal.Rptr. 826 [“collateral estoppel is not an 
inflexible, universally applicable principle; policy considerations may 
limit its use where the limitation on relitigation underpinnings of the 
doctrine are outweighed by other factors”].) Accordingly, the public 

policies underlying collateral estoppel—preservation of the integrity of 
the judicial system, promotion of judicial economy, and protection of 
litigants from harassment by vexatious litigation—strongly influence 
whether its application in a particular circumstance would be fair to the 
parties and constitute sound judicial policy. Lucido v. Superior Ct., 51 
Cal. 3d 335, 343, 795 P.2d 1223, 1226–27 (1990). Whatever the 

efficiencies of applying collateral estoppel in this case, they pale before 
the importance of preserving the criminal trial process as the exclusive 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Search/Results.html?query=adv%3A%20Lucido%20v.%20Superior%20COURT%281990%29%2051%20Cal.3d%20335&isPremiumAdvanceSearch=False&jurisdiction=CA-CS&saveJuris=False&contentType=CASE&querySubmissionGuid=i0a89dc0f00000195155778124c071afe&startIndex=1&searchId=i0a89dc0f00000195155778124c071afe&kmSearchIdRequested=False&simpleSearch=False&isAdvancedSearchTemplatePage=False&skipSpellCheck=False&isTrDiscoverSearch=False&thesaurusSearch=False&thesaurusTermsApplied=False&ancillaryChargesAccepted=False&proviewEligible=False&eventingTypeOfSearch=BOL&trailingSpace=False&citationSortable=False&useNonBillableZoneClientId=False&isFindByTemplateSearch=False&transitionType=Search&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Search/Results.html?query=Ashe%20v.%20Swenson%20%281970%29%20397%20U.S.%20436%2C%20444%2C%2090%20S.Ct.%201189%2C%201194%2C%2025%20L.Ed.2d%20469&isPremiumAdvanceSearch=False&jurisdiction=CA-CS&saveJuris=False&contentType=CASE&querySubmissionGuid=i0a89dc0f00000195155db49c4c072e42&startIndex=1&searchId=i0a89dc0f00000195155db49c4c072e42&kmSearchIdRequested=False&simpleSearch=False&isAdvancedSearchTemplatePage=False&skipSpellCheck=False&isTrDiscoverSearch=False&thesaurusSearch=False&thesaurusTermsApplied=False&ancillaryChargesAccepted=False&proviewEligible=False&eventingTypeOfSearch=FRM&trailingSpace=False&citationSortable=False&useNonBillableZoneClientId=False&isFindByTemplateSearch=False&transitionType=Search&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Search/Results.html?query=Ashe%20v.%20Swenson%20%281970%29%20397%20U.S.%20436%2C%20444%2C%2090%20S.Ct.%201189%2C%201194%2C%2025%20L.Ed.2d%20469&isPremiumAdvanceSearch=False&jurisdiction=CA-CS&saveJuris=False&contentType=CASE&querySubmissionGuid=i0a89dc0f00000195155db49c4c072e42&startIndex=1&searchId=i0a89dc0f00000195155db49c4c072e42&kmSearchIdRequested=False&simpleSearch=False&isAdvancedSearchTemplatePage=False&skipSpellCheck=False&isTrDiscoverSearch=False&thesaurusSearch=False&thesaurusTermsApplied=False&ancillaryChargesAccepted=False&proviewEligible=False&eventingTypeOfSearch=FRM&trailingSpace=False&citationSortable=False&useNonBillableZoneClientId=False&isFindByTemplateSearch=False&transitionType=Search&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Document/I481a0548fa9b11d99439b076ef9ec4de/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv1%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0a89dc0f00000195155e37be4c073049%3Fppcid%3D216c4a137c2e4a12926a3b0331d0f62b%26Nav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DI481a0548fa9b11d99439b076ef9ec4de%26parentRank%3D0%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=5e44be8a872b962a0a5787dc45464016&list=CASE&sessionScopeId=830c90e40bf3e8cc55daf9348ea4205eaf43fe21020d78df366d573fe4af55bb&ppcid=216c4a137c2e4a12926a3b0331d0f62b&originationContext=Smart%20Answer&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
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forum for determining guilt or innocence as to crimes. Applying 
collateral estoppel would unduly undermine the public interest in 
determining guilt and innocence at criminal trials.  

Conclusion 

 Justice demands action. Given the critical importance of 

uncovering the truth, this Court must grant Petitioner’s Writ of 
Mandate. DNA testing is not a privilege—it is a necessity when life and 
liberty are at stake. The untested evidence holds the potential to prove 
innocence, and refusing to examine it would be a grave miscarriage of 
justice. This Court has the power—and the duty—to ensure that truth 

prevails. 

DATED: February 18, 2025   INNOCENCEOC 

 

                  /S/Annee Della  Donna__ 

       Annee Della Donna, Esq.  
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PROOF OF SERVICE PEOPLE V. STATEN 

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, 

 I am employed in the County of Orange, State of California.   I am over the age of 18 and not a 
party to the within action; my business address is 301 Forest Avenue, Laguna Beach, Ca 92651. 

On February 18, 2025 I served the foregoing document described as:  

PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDATE on the interested parties in this action by transmitting 
[] the original [X] a true copy thereof as follows: 

LOS ANGELES DISTRICT ATTORNEYS’ OFFICE 
MARGUERITE RIZZO/LEE CERNOCK 
320 West Temple Street, Suite 540 
Los Angeles, Ca 90012 
mrizzo@da.lacounty.gov 
leecernok@da.lacounty.gov 

ATTORNEY GENERAL’S OFFICE 
300 SOUTH SPRING STREET, LOS ANGELES, CA 90013-1230 

Superior Court of California  
Judge William Ryan 
Dept 100 
Clara Shortridge 
210 West Temple 
Los Angeles, Ca 90012 

X BY EMAIL OR ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION: Pursuant to Code of Civil 
Procedure sections 1010.6, et seq. and CRC 2.25, or based on a court order or an agreement of 
the parties to accept service by email or electronic transmission, I caused the document(s) to be 
sent from the email address delladonnalaw@me.com to the persons at the email addresses listed 
above.  I did not receive within a reasonable time after transmission, any electronic message or 
other indication that the transmission was unsuccessful. 

X BY MAIL: I am readily familiar with the firm’s practice for collection and processing 
correspondence for mailing. Under that practice, this document will be deposited with the U.S. 
Postal Service on this date with postage thereon fully prepaid at Laguna Beach, California in the 
ordinary course of business. I am aware that upon motion of the party served, service is 
presumed invalid if postal cancellation date or postage meter date is more than one day after date 
of deposit for mailing in affidavit. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true 
and correct.  Executed this 18th day of February 2025 in Laguna Beach, Ca 92651. 

 ________/S/_Annee Della Donna____________________ 
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA
Supreme Court of California
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1. At the time of service I was at least 18 years of age and not a party to this legal action. 
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Person Served Email Address Type Date / Time

Annee Della Donna
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2/18/2025 12:54:02 
PM

Lee Cernock leecernock@da.lacounty.gov e-
Serve

2/18/2025 12:54:02 
PM

This proof of service was automatically created, submitted and signed on my behalf through my agreements with 
TrueFiling and its contents are true to the best of my information, knowledge, and belief. 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct. 

2/18/2025
Date

/s/Annee Della Donna
Signature

Della Donna, Annee (138420) 
Last Name, First Name (PNum)

Law Offices of Annee Della Donna
Law Firm

Supreme Court of California
Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court
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